LONELINESS AND DEPRESSION AMONG INTERNATIONAL STUDENTS



Loneliness and Depressive Symptoms Among International Students in Third-Level

Education in Ireland

Lauren McGuinness

X19301956

Supervisor: Dr. Caoimhe Hannigan

Thesis Presented in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Bachelor of Arts (Hons)

Degree in Psychology, Submitted to the National College of Ireland, March 2022.

Submission of Thesis and Dissertation

National College of Ireland Research Students Declaration Form (Thesis/Author Declaration Form)

 Name: Lauren McGuinness

 Student Number: X19301956

 Degree for which thesis is submitted: B.A. (Hons) in Psychology

 Title of Thesis: Loneliness and Depressive Symptoms Among International Students

 Date: 21/03/2022

 Material submitted for award

 A. I declare that this work submitted has been composed by myself.

 I

 B. I declare that all verbatim extracts contained in the thesis have been distinguished by quotation marks and the sources of information specifically acknowledged.

C.	C. I agree to my thesis being deposited in the NCI Library online open access repository NORMA.	
D.	. I declare that no material contained in the thesis has been used in any other submission for an academic award.	\checkmark

Acknowledgements

Firstly, I would like to give a huge thank you to my supervisor, Dr. Caoimhe Hannigan, who gave me so much guidance and reassurance throughout the study duration. My stress was always lifted after every meeting with her, so I could not thank her enough for her encouragement and kindness throughout the process.

Many thanks to Dr. Michelle Kelly for her help also throughout the past few months. Your weekly guidance has been very appreciated.

I would like to thank all my family and friends who helped me share my study online and by taking part also. I am so thankful for my friends' encouragement and reassurance every day. I can not thank you all enough for your help.

I would also like to share my appreciation to my boyfriend, who has motivated me to continue with my studies throughout the past 3 years. I would not have been able to complete this without him. I am forever grateful for your support, especially over the past few months.

Finally, I would like to thank all participants who gave their time to take part in this research project. All participation has been greatly appreciated, and I wouldn't have completed this study without their help.

Π

Abstract

Aims: This study aims to provide an understanding of loneliness and depressive symptoms among international students attending third-level education in Ireland. This study assessed the difference in loneliness levels between international students and host-national students and the difference in loneliness between male and female international students. This study also examined whether loneliness, student demographic, and gender were predictors of depressive symptoms. Method: Access to the study questionnaire link was distributed to participants (N = 133) using various social media platforms and through the placement of posters around the National College of Ireland campus. The questionnaire link included the UCLA Loneliness Scale and the Quick Inventory Depressive Symptomology Self-Report Scale. Results: Results showed no significant difference in levels of loneliness between international students and host-national students. Male international students had a higher level of loneliness than female international students. Both gender and loneliness were found to be predictors of depressive symptoms in third-level students. Whilst student demographic was not a significant predictor. Conclusion: The findings provide a greater understanding of loneliness and depressive symptoms among international students in Ireland. Implications are discussed also.

Keywords: Loneliness, Depression, International Student, Third-level Education, Host-National Student.

Table of Contents

Introduction1
Loneliness1
Depression2
Gender Differences7
The Current Study10
Research Aims and Hypothesis10
Methods12
Participants12
Measures12
Design14
Procedure14
Results16
Descriptive Statistics
Inferential Statistics17
Discussion19
Implications
Strengths and Limitations
Conclusion24
References
Appendices
Appendix A - Information Sheet
Appendix B - Consent Form
Appendix C - Debriefing Sheet40
Appendix D - Revised UCLA Loneliness Scale41
Appendix E - Self-Report Quick Inventory of Depressive Symptomatology (QIDS-SR16)42
Appendix F - Poster

Introduction

The student population are an essential asset for the future of their chosen field of study. Therefore, it is vital for students to maintain their physical and mental wellbeing throughout the academic year. Loneliness and depressive symptoms are common issues many students face in university (Ceyhan & Ceyhan, 2011). International students are at a high risk of experiencing loneliness and depressive symptoms during the first few weeks of university whilst studying abroad (Levitz & Noel, 1989). Some risk factors that international students may face include the transition to third-level education, the acculturation period, lack of social support, discrimination and, more recently, remote learning.

Loneliness

Loneliness refers to a subjective loss or lack of social relationships where there is a discrepancy of quality and quantity in the existing or desired relationships (Perlman & Peplau, 1981). It has been found that loneliness may be a risk factor for adverse psychological and physical effects such as depressive symptoms (Cacioppo et al., 2006; Wei et al., 2005), increased cognitive decline (Lara et al., 2019), poor sleep quality (Cacioppo et al., 2002) and increased negativity or rumination (Cacioppo & Hawkley, 2009; Zawadzki et al., 2013). Therefore, the adverse effects of loneliness on students in university have an overall negative impact on their university experience.

While studying abroad, international students tend to experience higher levels of loneliness than when they are in their native country (Tsai et al., 2017). The literature has found that over half of the international students in each study had experienced loneliness at least once whilst studying abroad (Rajapaksa & Dundes, 2003). There have been many reasons identifying why an international student may experience loneliness during the academic period. Some factors include the transition into third-level education (Thomas et al., 2020), the acculturation period (Berry, 2012), language barriers (Mori, 2000), prejudice, discrimination, or ostracism (Cacioppo et al., 2006) and lack of social support.

Although the topic of loneliness is often taken negatively, it would be beneficial to note that there are approaches available that can be used to combat loneliness and any effects that may arise from loneliness. For example, Griffin (2010) believes that the use of various facilities such as group therapies, counselling services and befriending groups can help students with their loneliness by combatting the negative thoughts about themselves. This would help improve their self-esteem and assertiveness and improve their academic performance. In addition, universities can facilitate these approaches by providing services such as international societies, international student talks, and informing international students of all the support services available, such as counselling, maths support, or financial support.

The association between loneliness and depressive symptoms seems to be common throughout the literature (Cacioppo et al., 2006). In a recent study by Cacioppo and colleagues (2010), assessing loneliness and depressive symptoms over the course of five consecutive annual assessments, it was found that loneliness is a predictor of increased depressive symptoms. However, depressive symptoms are not a predictor of increased loneliness.

Depression

As mentioned, studies have found that loneliness can increase the risk of developing psychological issues such as depression (Girmay & Singh, 2019). Depression is one of the most common mental health issues found among university students (Lyubomirsky, 2003). Many negative consequences are associated with depression among college students, including suicidal tendencies (Jeon, 2011), poor academic achievements (Hysenbegasi et al., 2005), and decreased desire for social interaction. Depression may stem from various factors mentioned relating to loneliness, including financial issues (Dahlin et al., 2011), poor social interactions or supports (Hops et al., 1990) and health risk behaviours such as binge drinking (Adewuya et al., 2006).

Binge drinking is a widespread occurrence in the student nightlife in Ireland and within the general population of Ireland. According to a report by the Health Research Board (2021), Ireland is 8th in the world concerning binge drinking, which refers to the consumption of six or more standard drinks in one sitting. Whilst studying in Ireland, international students may be at risk of partaking in health risk behaviours such as binge drinking due to the drinking culture in Ireland. Binge drinking has been found to be associated with depressive symptoms among college students (Said et al., 2013). It also has other risks associated with such as the increased risk of mortality, driving under the influence (Wechsler et al., 2000), engagement in unsafe sex (Henry Wechsler et al., 2002), poor academic performance, and a reduction in memory performance (H. Wechsler et al., 1994).

Discrimination

Discrimination is an essential factor to consider whilst examining international students' loneliness and depression levels. In a report by Irish Council for International Students (2021), it was noted that 40% of the respondents had experienced or witnessed racial discrimination whilst studying abroad. The effects that arise from discrimination are typically negative. It has been found to increase depressive symptoms (Phinney et al., 1998), lowers self-esteem levels and increases levels of stress (Pak et al., 1991). Ostracism is a form of discrimination by excluding an individual from a society or group (Suen, 1983). It has been shown to increase the dropout rates of students also.

It was found that discrimination had more adverse effects on the depressive symptoms of international students when compared to the levels of depressive symptoms due to the acculturation period (Hysenbegasi et al., 2005). Whilst this may be the case, when comparing immigrant and sojourner international students, it was found that acculturation had less of an impact on sojourner student's depression levels. The reasoning behind this has been hypothesised to be due to the knowledge that they will be returning to their national country soon; thus, they can cope with the stressors temporarily.

Transition into Third-Level Education

The transition into university can be challenging for many students as they may face various obstacles such as establishing new peer groups, social supports, finding a social identity and overall getting used to the new environment. Studies have found that more than 40% of students leave college early, whilst much of this percentage leave their chosen course within the first year (Hamilton & Hamilton, 2006). Furthermore, the period between weeks 2 and 6 has been found to be the most at-risk period for students to leave their course (Levitz & Noel, 1989). This change into a new and unfamiliar environment may cause a period of disequilibrium among all student transitioning into third-level education (Jackson, 2003).

In Hawkley and Cacioppo's (2010) 'Model of Loneliness', it is hypothesised that feelings of loneliness affect the individual's self-regulation and cognitive processing. As a result, this may affect the individual's academic adjustment in a negative way as these abilities would be required to adjust to their new environment effectively. Self-regulation also allows students to have more autonomy (Jansen, 2019) and reduce their risk of dropping out of their course (Lee & Choi, 2011).

Although the transition into a new academic environment is found to be common among all university students, the international student group would simultaneously have to deal with the transition into a new culture and country. Many international students have to move away from their family, friends and hometowns to attend their college courses (Oswald & Clark, 2003). They would also be leaving any form of social support at home, which may be a challenging factor to deal with. In psychology, the acculturation process is referred to as the process in which a population group or individual adjusts their cultural beliefs, behaviours, and attitudes to be assimilated with the host-national population of their current location (Birman & Addae, 2021). The adjustments may include changes with language, finding what resources are available, and finding social supports (Smith & Khawaja, 2011).

In a study by Girmay in 2019, it was found that international students within the study have all experienced some level of loneliness at some point during the acculturation process (Girmay & Singh, 2019). Furthermore, in various studies, it was identified that international students found the transition from their native culture to the host national country's culture to be difficult due to multiple reasons such as prejudice and racism from the host-national students (Charles-Toussaint & Crowson, 2010), alienation, lack of social support, adjusting to the new culture and learning a new (Sam, 2001; Trice, 2007; Leigh-Hunt et al., 2017). As a result, these challenges may come as a shock to the international student, which can be very distressing; this is known as cultural shock (Shen & Chen, 2020).

Social Support

It is important for the university faculty to create facilities and services available to international students to internationalise the university to make the acculturation and transition process more manageable. It has been found that international students tend to be reluctant to admit to vulnerability, even when there are support services available to them through their universities (Chew-Graham et al., 2003). This raises the point that it is important for the university faculty to create induction groups for the international population to allow them to see that the support services are there for a reason and that there would be no judgement made if they did intend to use them for any reason. This would also reduce the hardship, loneliness, or possible depressive symptoms by knowing that these support services are there to help rather than judge them.

Social support is one of the most important factors to be noted during the transition into third-level education (Solberg & Viliarreal, 1997). The availability of support would enable students to feel welcome and reduce feelings of aloneness (Lin, 2006). International students may face specific barriers such as lack of knowledge of available support services, fear of being stigmatised (Smith, 2016), or being afraid to reach out for support. This emphasises the point of how important it is during the induction of the academic period. All students must be made aware of all services available to them both within their university and in the local areas. The cultural views of the international student's native country have been found to be an influence on the fear of accessing mental health services (Blignault et al., 2008).

Remote Learning

Unfortunately, since 2019, third-level students in Ireland have witnessed an upsurge in loneliness due to the coronavirus disease-19 (Covid-19) pandemic (Bu et al., 2020). Classes being conducted virtually rather than on campus is a possible reason for this. It was found that students having online classes compared to those attending classes in person experienced higher levels of loneliness (Ali & Smith, 2015; Wallace et al., 2021). A study based on the impact of Covid-19 on students' lives found that 81.3% of students in their study experienced loneliness at least once during the academic period due to remote learning (Birmingham et al., 2021). Attending college lectures online minimises the possibility for international students to fully interact and socialise with other college students (Sarvestani et al., 2019). Although communication can be completed virtually, it is not the same compared to face-to-face interactions and discussions. In a study based in Japan, it was found that students who had begun university during 2020, when the pandemic restrictions were already present, had lower depression levels than students who began college in 2019 (Horita et al., 2021). The reasoning behind this may be due to the fact that students who began college in 2019 may have enjoyed their face-to-face learning, whilst the students who began in 2020 can begin to adapt to online learning from the beginning. Due to the government restrictions, students' social engagement during the academic year is not the same now as previously. Many students' social life is non-existent as their social interactions may have involved meeting their classmates or going out for social events throughout the year. This might have exacerbated the consequences of loneliness, especially during the transition and acculturation period. Feelings of isolation and feeling as though they can not fit into a particular community can cause an individual to feel lonely or cause them to feel depressed as a result.

Remote learning involves students having to look at their computer screens for prolonged periods for both attending classes and completing college work. As a result, this could have an effect on the physical and mental wellbeing of the student (Lamanauskas & Makarskaitė-Petkevičienė, 2021). It is important for faculty members such as lecturers to adapt to the learning environment to keep engagement levels of students up. Without any form of engagement, students' motivation levels, academic performance, and overall mental health have been shown to deteriorate (Chitra & Antoney, 2018). Overall remote learning reduces the ability to socially interact, which would be a vital part of an international student's experience of third-level education. Although facilities such as counselling, maths or academic help would still be available online, it may reduce the motivative factors for these students to reach out for help.

Gender Differences

The findings have been mixed in relation to gender differences and the association between loneliness and depressive symptoms. Some studies have found that there are no gender differences with the association between loneliness and depression (Cacioppo et al., 2010), whilst others have found that males have a stronger association than females (Cacioppo et al., 2006). Several studies have been undertaken on the impact of loneliness on international students alone. However, minimal research has been conducted on gender differences related to loneliness and depressive symptoms among international students. Some of the existing literature has found that females students tend to experience higher levels of loneliness than their male peers (Al Khatib, 2012; Sawir et al., 2008). It is hypothesised that women are more vulnerable to the effects that loneliness has on one's mental health (Liu et al., 2020). The possible reasoning for this vulnerability is that females tend to prefer interpersonal relationships, engage in more social events and have larger social groups generally in comparison to males (Cross & Madson, 1997; Hong et al., 2009). The negative effects that would result from loneliness and lack of social networks may affect females more than males due to their need to have stronger interpersonal connections.

In a study based on gender differences and loneliness between students, it was found that the results were determined based on whether the participants were tested using the UCLA Loneliness Scale or a self-labelling measure of loneliness (Borys & Perlman, 1985). It was found that in general, if the study was examined using the UCLA Loneliness Scale and it was a non-significant result, there were no gender differences (Jones et al., 1985). However, if the results were significant, males showed to have higher levels of loneliness. When examined using a self-labelling measure, females had a higher frequency of admitting to experiencing loneliness. Males are more reluctant to admit that they feel lonely due to the fear of possible repercussions. As mentioned previously, different cultures have different views on males obtaining support or admitting to having issues such as loneliness. This might have affected the previous results, which stated that females experience higher levels of loneliness than males if the males were not willing to admit to their feelings of loneliness.

In a study by Piccinelli & Wilkinson (2000), it was found that females are twice as likely to experience depressive symptoms than males. Various reasons and explanations behind the result have been found, one of which is that males are more inclined to deny support available to them (Ibrahim et al., 2013). This would include but are not limited to social supports such as befriending schemes, counselling services, financial support, or academic support.

A study based on medical students in Sweden found that the students had a 12.9% higher prevalence of depressive symptoms than the general population (Dahlin et al., 2005). From their sample, the female population had a higher amount of depressive symptoms also. Wallin & Runeson (2003) state that females tend to ask for psychological help more often than males. This may be due to women being more open or in tune with their emotions and mental health in comparison to males.

It is hypothesised that males have an affinity for aloneness (Cramer & Neyedley, 1998). They tend to avoid admitting to being lonely as it creates a negative self-evaluation, and they believe admitting to loneliness is a sign of personal failure. Socially, it is more acceptable for women to admit to loneliness in comparison to men, which as a result, has created the stigma that men must not ask for support as it will make them feel inferior or incompetent (Nadler, 1991). When males have a positive attitude for aloneness and the affinity for aloneness, it has shown to buffer out the risk factor of depression, thus having less of a negative effect on them.

It is also suggested that different interventions would be needed for male and female college students due to the difference in the experience of loneliness and depressive symptoms with both genders (Liu et al., 2020). To reduce feelings of loneliness and the risk of depressive symptoms, it is suggested that males improve their efforts to interact socially and create a social group. As mentioned previously, males are less socially active and would be more avoidant of befriending groups or social interactions in comparison to female students. Females on the other hand, are recommended to further improve their social

10

connections whilst simultaneously making efforts to reduce their loneliness levels as it was found that females suffer from more adverse risk factors than males.

The Current Study

Due to the contradicting nature of the literature available, this study aims to investigate the data within Ireland. There is a lack of studies based on loneliness and depressive symptoms with international students within Ireland, thus exploring the gap in the literature surrounding international students in Ireland. Many of the studies available are based on international students on students in certain countries such as Australia (Sawir et al., 2008), or America (Rajapaksa & Dundes, 2002; Charles-Toussaint & Crowson, 2010; Girmay & Singh, 2019), but others focus on specific nationalities such as Chinese international students (Tsai et al., 2017; Blignault et al., 2008; Shen & Chen, 2020). The reasoning behind students having to be over the age of 18 is due to the use of the Quick Inventory of Depressive Symptomology Self-Report Scale (Rush et al., 2003). The previous research regarding the gender differences with loneliness and depressive symptoms was not consistent across the literature, thus giving reason to explore this area.

Research Aims and Hypothesis

This current study aims to assess the impact of loneliness and depressive symptoms on international students whilst attending third-level education in Ireland. The research will focus on the differences in levels of loneliness between international and host-national students. It will also focus on the gender differences in levels of loneliness of international students. Finally, it will investigate whether levels of loneliness, student demographic and gender are predictors of depressive symptoms. These aims produce the following research questions and hypotheses: Research Question 1: Do international students and host-national students differ in levels of loneliness?. *Hypothesis 1:* There will be a significant difference in levels of loneliness between international students and host-national students.

Research Question 2: Do male and female international students differ in levels of loneliness?. Hypothesis 2: There will be a difference in levels of loneliness between male and female international students.

Research Question 3: To what extent does loneliness, student demographic and gender predict levels of depressive symptoms?. Hypothesis 3: Loneliness, student status and gender will significantly predict levels of depressive symptoms.

Methods

Participants

The research sample of the current study consisted of 133 (Male: n = 36; Female: n = 97) third-level students in Ireland over the age of 18. Within the sample, 38.3% of participants were international students (n = 51) and 61.6% were host-national students (n = 82). Convenience sampling was used to recruit the participants. The study was primarily promoted through the researcher's social media but also promoted using posters placed on the notice boards around the National College of Ireland's campus.

Measures

Before completing the questionnaires, participants were required to state their gender (male, female, other) and select which age range they fit into (18-24, 25-40, 41-64, 65+). Participants were also required to state which student demographic they fall under (international student in Ireland, host-national student in Ireland).

Loneliness

The first scale used in the research study was the revised UCLA Loneliness Scale (Russell et al., 1980) (See Appendix D). It is a twenty-item scale used to measure an individual's feelings of loneliness. It uses a four-point scale to determine the levels of loneliness associated with each question. Sample items include: "I feel left out" and "My social relationships are superficial". Participants were asked to answer based on the four-point scale ranging from 1 "never" to 4 "often". Items 1, 5, 6, 9, 10, 15, 16, 19, 20 on the scale are reverse scored as they are positively worded statements. Sample items of the positive items include "I am an outgoing person" and "I feel part of a group of friends". A study to determine the reliability and valid ity of the UCLA Loneliness Scale was conducted and found it provides a reliable and valid assessment for various populations and data

collection methods (Cronbach's alpha ranging from .89 to .94) (Russell, 1996). In addition, this scale had very good reliability in the current study ($\alpha = .92$).

Depressive Symptoms

The second scale that was used is the Quick Inventory Depressive Symptomology -Self Report (QIDS-SR) Scale (Rush et al., 2003) (See Appendix E). It is a sixteen-item selfreport scale that determines the depressive symptom severity of adult participants. It uses a four-point Likert scale which allows participants to reflect on their mood and behaviours over the past week and choose their answers based on both factors. This scale is divided into different subcategories: questions 1-4 (sleep), question 5 (sadness), questions 6-9 (weight and appetite), question 10 (concentration), question 11 (self-image), question 12 (death or suicide), question 13 (interest), question 14 (energy levels), questions 15 and 16 (psychomotor items). The questions of the scale are scored from 0 (symptom not present) to 3 (severe risk of symptom). The scale's score is calculated by adding the highest scores from each subcategory. The highest score that can be gained from this scale is 27. Scores of 0-5 suggest no depression, 6-10 suggest mild depression, 11-15 suggest moderate depression, 16-20 suggest severe depression, and 20-27 suggest very severe depression. One-time use of this scale does not give a diagnosis but rather indicates the depressive symptom severity of the participant. It has been shown to have good reliability and construct validity (Cronbach's alpha = .87) (Brown et al., 2008; Cameron et al., 2013). This scale had an acceptable level of reliability in the current study ($\alpha = .69$). Although these scales have not been used with this specific topic previously, it is essential to use them to understand the potential issues international students might face whilst studying abroad.

Design

The research design of the current study was a cross-sectional design with a quantitative approach. The design was also correlational due to the aim to assess the statistical relationship between various variables without the influence of external variables.

Independent samples t-tests were conducted to test the first and second hypotheses of the study. This examined the associations between 1) student demographic and loneliness levels and 2) gender of international students and loneliness levels. Finally, a multiple regression analysis was conducted to assess the third hypothesis of the study. This contained three predictor variables (PV): loneliness, student demographic and gender. The criterion variable (CV) of the regression was depressive symptoms.

Procedure

The majority of participants were recruited using the researcher's social media platforms, including Facebook, Instagram, Twitter, and Reddit. In addition, some participants were recruited using the QR code on posters placed within the National College of Ireland's campus (See Appendix F). Each social media post and poster included the description of the study, requirements to take part, the aim of the current study and a link and QR code to access the online Google Forms link. Once_participants used the direct link or QR code, they were brought to the questionnaire page on Google Forms. They were shown an information sheet detailing the purpose of the study whilst also briefly explaining what they should expect if they decide to proceed with the study (See Appendix A). It also mentioned that the study would take approximately 10-15 minutes to complete. After reading the information sheet, the participant will select "next" to proceed with the consent form. This is where participants will consent to the understanding that they meet the study requirements, and it is understood that they may withdraw at any time without penalty (See Appendix B). If participants agreed to the study terms, they were asked to provide consent by clicking "I consent" at the bottom of the page. This then brought participants to the first questionnaire, the UCLA Loneliness Scale. Participants were required to answer all the UCLA Loneliness scale questions followed by the QIDS-SR scale. Once both questionnaires were complete, participants were brought to a debrief sheet which included contact details of the researcher and supervisor of the study (See Appendix C). In the case that the topics involved in the study caused participants distress, contact details to various helplines were placed at the bottom of the debrief sheet.

This research study has been viewed and approved by the Ethics Committee of the National College of Ireland and follows the ethical guidelines of The Psychological Society of Ireland's Code of Professional Ethics (Psychological Society of Ireland, 2010) and the National College of Ireland's Ethical Guidelines and Procedures for Research involving Human Participants (National College of Ireland, 2018).

16

Results

Descriptive Statistics

Descriptive statistics were collected from 133 participants who took part in the study. All participants had an age range of 18-64. Frequencies for gender, student category and age range are presented in Table 1.

Table 1

Variable	Frequency	Valid %	
Gender			
Male	36	27.1	
Female	97	72.9	
Other	0	0	
Student Demographic			
International Student	51	38.3	
Host-National Student	82	61.7	
Age Range			
18-24	96	72.2	
25-40	35	26.3	
41-64	2	1.5	
65+	0	0	

Frequencies for categorical variables (N=133)

The mean (M), standard error mean, median, standard deviation (SD) and range for continuous variables are presented in Table 2. The mean levels of depression were 11, which indicates a moderate level of depressive symptoms being present in the study.

Table 2

Variable	M [95% CI]	Std. Error	Median	SD	Range	
		Mean				
Loneliness	46.73 [44.69-48.78]	1.04	46	11.94	22-70	
Depressive Symptoms	11.5 [10.46-12.53]	.52	11	6.01	1-24	

Descriptive statistics for all continuous variables (N = 133)

Inferential Statistics

To test the first hypothesis an independent-samples t-test was conducted to compare loneliness scores of international students and host-national students. There was no significant difference in scores for international students (M = 48.35, SD = 13.11) and host-national students (M = 45.73, SD = 11.11), t (131) = 1.23, p = .084, two-tailed.

An additional independent-samples t-test was conducted to test the second hypothesis to compare loneliness scores of male and female international students. The results revealed that there was a significant difference in scores with male international students (M = 55.29, SD = 9.59) scoring higher than female international students (M = 43.5, SD = 13.18), t (48.9) = 3.7, p = .001, two-tailed. The magnitude of the differences in the means (mean difference = 11.79, 95% Cl: 5.38 to 18.19) was large (Cohen's d = 1.02)

The third hypothesis was tested by conducting a standard multiple regression to investigate the impact of loneliness, student demographic, and gender on levels of depressive symptoms. Preliminary analyses were conducted to ensure no violation of assumptions of normality, linearity, multicollinearity, and homoscedasticity. The model explained 36.6% of the variation in depressive symptoms, F (3, 129) = 24.855, p = <.001. As can be seen from Table 3, both loneliness and gender were statistically significant, with loneliness recording a higher beta value (beta = .584, p<.001), followed by gender (beta = .207, p = .005).

Table 3

Variable	R ²	В	SE	β	t	р
(Constant)	.37***					
Loneliness		.294	.036	.584	8.263	<.001
Student Demographic		-1.1	.9	09	-1.22	.223
Gender		2.8	.98	.21	2.86	.005

Standard multiple regression output for loneliness, student demographic and gender

Note. *p < .05; **p < .01; ***p < .001

In summary, there was no significant difference in levels of loneliness between international students and host-national students. However, a significant difference in levels of loneliness was found between male and female international students. Male international students were found to have higher levels of loneliness in comparison to female international students in this instance. It was found that the student demographic does not predict depressive symptoms to a significant level. However, loneliness and gender were found to significantly predict depressive symptoms.

19

Discussion

In the current study, loneliness and depressive symptoms among international students were examined within third-level education in Ireland. First, the study aimed to investigate the difference in levels of loneliness between international students and host-national students within third-level education in Ireland. The study also aimed to examine the difference in levels of loneliness between male and female international students within third-level education in Ireland. The study also aimed to examine the difference in levels of loneliness between male and female international students within third-level education in Ireland. The study also aimed to examine the difference in levels of loneliness between male and female international students within third-level education in Ireland. Finally, it was also aimed to assess whether loneliness, student demographic and gender are predictors of depressive symptoms. From these aims, it was hypothesised that there would be a significant difference in levels of loneliness between international students and host-national students, a significant difference in levels of loneliness, student demographic and gender are significant predictors of depressive symptoms.

In relation to the first hypothesis, it was found that there was no significant difference in levels of loneliness between international students and host-national students. One possible explanation for the non-significant findings is that the study was conducted during the Covid-19 pandemic. Around the time of data collection, new restrictions were being mandated within Ireland, leading to a possible explanation of similar levels of loneliness across both international and host-national students. This would align with the literature around Covid-19 in terms of the vast majority of third-level students in general experiencing some form of loneliness throughout the academic period during the pandemic (Birmingham et al., 2021). The transition into third-level education is already challenging in itself for all students (Thomas et al., 2020). The academic pressure that would be added alongside the pressure placed on students attending university online may have been a plausible reason for the results above. Another important factor that should be considered whilst analysing the findings of this research question is that participants may have taken part in the study during the Christmas period. Some students may not have been able to travel home due to isolation restrictions being in place. The use of qualitative measures would be beneficial in the investigation process as participants would have the ability to explain their loneliness levels.

Future research could be conducted using a longitudinal study comparing the loneliness levels of international students and host-national students in Ireland before and after the pandemic. This would allow for a greater understanding of the levels of loneliness between both student demographics. In addition, it would assess whether the results shown above were merely due to the pandemic or environmental factors or whether the difference in levels of loneliness between international and host-national students is truly non-significant on a general basis.

In favour of the second hypothesis, it was identified that there was a significant difference in levels of loneliness between male and female international students. Although some literature states that females had a higher frequency of admitting to feelings of loneliness (Nicolaisen & Thorsen, 2014), in line with the study by Jones and colleagues (1985), males were found to have a higher score of loneliness when examined using the UCLA Loneliness Scale in the current study. The hypothesised reasoning behind this was that females tend to be more open when admitting to feelings of loneliness. However, since the UCLA Loneliness scale is based on positive and negative items, that would not involve directly admitting to feelings of loneliness but rather an overall score of levels of loneliness.

Other studies have found that the mean scores of loneliness were higher in male students in comparison to females (Tümkaya et al., 2008). Therefore, it is hypothesised that female students obtain and maintain close relationships with others more frequently than males due to their better attachment skills (Deniz et al., 2005).

21

The inconsistent literature based on gender differences in loneliness may be due to cultural differences. In a study by Barreto and colleagues (2021), it was found that levels of loneliness were highest amongst young men in individualistic cultures. Individualistic cultures involve individuals who are independent and focused on their own goals and privacy (Rhee et al., 1995). Ireland is a country that would be considered to have an individualistic culture, thus giving a possible explanation to the results found in the study. Due to the stigma that males must stay quiet about their mental health issues in certain cultures, the results based on gender differences in relation to loneliness would differ depending on the country and culture the study is based around.

The third hypothesis found that gender and loneliness were predictors of depressive symptoms among third-level students, but student demographic was not a predictor. It was hypothesised that all three factors would be a predictor of depressive symptoms. However, after analysing the results, this outcome is coherent with the results found from the first hypothesis as there were no significant differences in levels of loneliness between international and host-national students. The research has consistently stated that there is an association between loneliness and depressive symptoms among students.

The interaction between loneliness and depressive symptoms places students at a high risk of suicidal ideation (Liu et al., 2015). Furthermore, certain ethnic groups such as Latino students are deemed at a higher risk when compared to white adults (Baca-Garcia et al., 2011). The hypothesised reasoning behind this would be due to the Latino group having a collectivist culture (Chesin & Jeglic, 2012). Collectivist culture is the opposite culture to the individualistic culture mentioned previously when referring to the culture type within Ireland. Collectivist cultures place heavy emphasis on relations with their family and others. In comparison, the individualistic culture within Ireland emphasises uniqueness and independence.

Implications

Given that the adverse risk factors to one's health that can be associated with loneliness and the high prevalence of loneliness within the current study sample, it would be important to try and prevent any effects of the issue early on (Richardson et al., 2017). It is vital that universities have the facilities available for students at any given time to provide support for knowledge to know how to deal with issues relating to student mental health. Access to websites such as Silvercloud allows for students to have open access to personalised mental health supports at any hour of the day.

The information gathered from the current study may lead to a practical implication being implemented into all universities in the case of a crisis such as the COVID-19 pandemic. For example, this could be used to create manuals that would guide university faculty to follow the right steps based on interventions that work for students in times of need. Examples of this would be if a pandemic were to happen again, interventions would be available that suit the needs of the student population group.

Given that this study found that males had a higher level of loneliness, promotional events to spread awareness of men's mental health would be an important practical implication that universities could also facilitate. It not only would be an attempt to break the stigma surrounding men's mental health, but it would also allow men coming from various cultures that may have a stigma surrounding mental health to realise that it is okay to ask for help. Promotional events may include talks, community cafes and other social events like walks, bingo, seasonal events that would benefit students through social interaction, thus minimising the risk of loneliness.

Strengths and Limitations

The use of reliable and valid measures was a strength in the research. The reliability of the scales shows that the results are generally consistent over the past research. The

validity allows the participants to have a valid representation of their feelings of loneliness and depressive symptoms using the self-report scales. The UCLA Loneliness Scale is commonly used among previous research and has a high-reliability score in the current study ($\alpha = .92$).

Another strength that should be noted is the total amount of participants within the study. G* Power software estimated that a reliable number of participants for the study would be 128. The total number of participants within the study came to 133. This allowed for a higher reliability and validity score.

As mentioned previously, there is a gap in the literature regarding loneliness and depressive symptoms among international students in third-level education in Ireland. This study aims to produce a form of clarity to how loneliness levels of international students compare to host-national students in Ireland.

Due to the limited outcomes from the two scales used, the results can only be generalised and may not entirely interpret the results accurately. The use of additional demographic questions may have benefited the interpretation of the results. For example, questions regarding participants' nationality or specific age rather than the age range would have given a more in-depth analysis. The use of the participant's nationality may have been beneficial in finding whether there is a correlation between specific nationalities and levels of loneliness or depressive symptoms.

The use of quantitative measures alone provides a limited overview of results. The use of quantitative and optional qualitative questions within the study would have been beneficial in understanding results as some results may have been affected due to environmental factors that are not recorded in the response. In addition, it would allow for participants to explain certain aspects, such as whether they think social support is important or whether males should be as open with their mental wellbeing just as much as women. The study uses self-report measures to examine levels of loneliness and depressive symptoms among students. Although these self-report measures have been shown to be valid and reliable, since the study was conducted online through Google Forms, the results may have been manipulated to be either exaggerated or undervalued by simply choosing the highest or lowest value of each question.

One major limitation that should be noted is that the study was conducted whilst Covid-19 restrictions were still in place within Ireland. This may have affected the difference in levels of loneliness between international students and host-national students. As a result, it may have heightened the levels of both loneliness and depressive symptoms among both demographics. Another issue with this would be that the replication of this study may result in different outcomes in future research when the pandemic ends and restrictions are entirely lifted within every country.

Conclusion

In summary, the findings support the idea that international students are at a high risk of loneliness and depressive symptoms. Although there was no difference in levels of loneliness between international students and host-national students, it was still evident that international students had experienced some form of both loneliness and depressive symptoms. The current study provides guidance for future research to explore this area in a more qualitative approach to explore the explanations behind the findings.

24

References

- Adewuya, A. O., Ola, B. A., Aloba, O. O., Mapayi, B. M., & Oginni, O. O. (2006).
 Depression amongst Nigerian university students. Prevalence and sociodemographic correlates: Prevalence and sociodemographic correlates. *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology*, *41*(8), 674–678. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00127-006-0068-9
- Al Khatib, S. (2012). Exploring the relationship among loneliness, self-esteem, self-efficacy and gender in United Arab Emirates college students. *Europe'S Journal Of Psychology*, 8(1). https://doi.org/10.5964/ejop.v8i1.301
- Ali, A., & Smith, D. (2015). Comparing social isolation effects on students attrition in online versus face-to-face courses in computer literacy. *Issues In Informing Science And Information Technology*, 12, 011-020. https://doi.org/10.28945/2258
- Baca-Garcia, E., Perez-Rodriguez, M. M., Keyes, K. M., Oquendo, M. A., Hasin, D. S.,
 Grant, B. F., & Blanco, C. (2011). Suicidal ideation and suicide attempts among
 Hispanic subgroups in the United States: 1991–1992 and 2001–2002. *Journal of Psychiatric Research*, 45(4), 512–518.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychires.2010.09.004

- Barreto, M., Victor, C., Hammond, C., Eccles, A., Richins, M. T., & Qualter, P. (2021).
 Loneliness around the world: Age, gender, and cultural differences in
 loneliness. *Personality and Individual Differences*, *169*(110066), 110066.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2020.110066
- Berry, J. W. (2012). Stress perspectives on acculturation. In D. L. Sam & J. W. Berry (Eds.), *The Cambridge Handbook of Acculturation Psychology* (pp. 43–57).
 Cambridge University Press.

- Birman, D., & Addae, D. (2021). Acculturation. In C. Suárez-Orozco, M. Abozena & A.
 Marks, *Transitions: The development of children of immigrants* (pp. 122-142). NYU
 Press. Retrieved 28 November 2021, from http://www.jstor.org/stable/j.ctt15zc7rf.13.
- Birmingham, W. C., Wadsworth, L. L., Lassetter, J. H., Graff, T. C., Lauren, E., & Hung, M.
 (2021). COVID-19 lockdown: Impact on college students' lives. *Journal of American College Health: J of ACH*, 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1080/07448481.2021.1909041
- Blignault, I., Ponzio, V., Rong, Y., & Eisenbruch, M. (2008). A qualitative study of barriers to mental health services utilisation among migrants from mainland China in south-east Sydney. *The International Journal of Social Psychiatry*, *54*(2), 180–190. https://doi.org/10.1177/0020764007085872
- Borys, S., & Perlman, D. (1985). Gender differences in loneliness. *Personality & Social Psychology Bulletin*, 11(1), 63–74. https://doi.org/10.1177/0146167285111006
- Brown, E., Murray, M., Carmody, T., Kennard, B., Hughes, C., Khan, D., & Rush, A. (2008).
 The quick inventory of depressive symptomatology-self-report: A psychometric evaluation in patients with asthma and major depressive disorder. *Annals Of Allergy, Asthma & Immunology, 100*(5), 433-438. https://doi.org/10.1016/s1081-1206(10)60467-x
- Bu, F., Steptoe, A., & Fancourt, D. (2020). Who is lonely in lockdown? Cross-cohort analyses of predictors of loneliness before and during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Public Health*, 186, 31-34. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.puhe.2020.06.036
- Cacioppo, J. T., Hawkley, L. C., & Thisted, R. A. (2010). Perceived social isolation makes me sad: 5-year cross-lagged analyses of loneliness and depressive symptomatology in the Chicago Health, Aging, and Social Relations Study. *Psychology and Aging*, 25(2), 453–463. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0017216

- Cacioppo, J. T., Hawkley, L. C., Crawford, L. E., Ernst, J. M., Burleson, M. H., Kowalewski, R. B., Malarkey, W. B., Van Cauter, E., & Berntson, G. G. (2002). Loneliness and health: potential mechanisms. *Psychosomatic Medicine*, 64(3), 407–417. https://doi.org/10.1097/00006842-200205000-00005
- Cacioppo, J. T., Hughes, M. E., Waite, L. J., Hawkley, L. C., & Thisted, R. A. (2006).
 Loneliness as a specific risk factor for depressive symptoms: cross-sectional and longitudinal analyses. *Psychology and Aging*, *21*(1), 140–151.
 https://doi.org/10.1037/0882-7974.21.1.140
- Cacioppo, J., & Hawkley, L. (2009). Perceived social isolation and cognition. *Trends In Cognitive Sciences*, *13*(10), 447-454. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tics.2009.06.005
- Cameron, I., Crawford, J., Cardy, A., du Toit, S., Lawton, K., & Hay, S. et al. (2013).
 Psychometric properties of the quick inventory of depressive symptomatology (QIDS-SR) in UK primary care. *Journal Of Psychiatric Research*, 47(5), 592-598.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychires.2013.01.019
- Ceyhan, E., & Ceyhan, A. A. (2011). Loneliness and depression levels of the students applying the university counseling center. *Egitim ve Bilim*, *36*(160), 81.
- Charles-Toussaint, G., & Crowson, H. (2010). Prejudice against international students: The role of threat perceptions and authoritarian dispositions in U.S. students. *The Journal Of Psychology*, 144(5), 413-428. https://doi.org/10.1080/00223980.2010.496643
- Chesin, M. S., & Jeglic, E. L. (2012). Suicidal behavior among Latina college students. *Hispanic Journal of Behavioral Sciences*, 34(3), 421–436. https://doi.org/10.1177/0739986312445271
- Chew-Graham, C. A., Rogers, A., & Yassin, N. (2003). 'I wouldn't want it on my CV or their records': medical students' experiences of help-seeking for mental health problems.

Medical Education, *37*(10), 873–880. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2923.2003.01627.x

- Chitra, P. A., & Antoney, R. M. (2018). E-Learning. Journal of Applied and Advanced Research, 3(S1), S11–S13. https://doi.org/10.21839/jaar.2018.v3is1.158
- Cramer, K. M., & Neyedley, K. A. (1998). Sex Roles, 38(7/8), 645–653. https://doi.org/10.1023/a:1018850711372
- Cross, S. E., & Madson, L. (1997). Models of the self: Self-construals and gender. *Psychological Bulletin*, 122(1), 5–37. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.122.1.5
- Dahlin, M., Joneborg, N., & Runeson, B. (2005). Stress and depression among medical students: a cross-sectional study. *Medical Education*, 39(6), 594–604. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2929.2005.02176.x
- Dahlin, M., Nilsson, C., Stotzer, E., & Runeson, B. (2011). Mental distress, alcohol use and help-seeking among medical and business students: a cross-sectional comparative study. *BMC Medical Education*, 11(1), 92. https://doi.org/10.1186/1472-6920-11-92
- Deniz, M. E., Hamarta, E., & Ari, R. (2005). An investigation of social skills and loneliness levels of university students with respect to their attachment styles in a sample of Turkish students. *Social Behavior and Personality*, *33*(1), 19–32. https://doi.org/10.2224/sbp.2005.33.1.19
- Girmay, M., & Singh, G. K. (2019). Social Isolation, loneliness, and mental and emotional well-being among international students in the United States. *International Journal of Translational Medical Research and Public Health*, 3(2), 75–82. https://doi.org/10.21106/ijtmrph.82

Griffin, J. (2010). The loneley society? Mental Health Foundation.

- Hamilton, S. F., & Hamilton, M. A. (2006). School, work, and emerging adulthood. In *Emerging adults in America: Coming of age in the 21st century* (pp. 257–277).
 American Psychological Association.
- Hawkley, L. C., & Cacioppo, J. T. (2010). Loneliness matters: A theoretical and empirical review of consequences and mechanisms. *Annals of Behavioral Medicine: A Publication of the Society of Behavioral Medicine*, 40(2), 218–227. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12160-010-9210-8
- Health Research Board. (2021). New HRB overview presents latest research on alcohol consumption, harm and policy in Ireland. https://www.hrb.ie/news/pressreleases/single-press-release/article/new-hrb-overview-presents-latest-research-onalcohol-consumption-harm-and-policy-in-ireland/
- Hicks, T. (2008). High school to college transition: a profile of the stressors, physical and psychological health issues that affect the first-year on-campus college student. *Journal of Cultural Diversity*, 15(3), 143–147.
- Hong, S.-I., Hasche, L., & Bowland, S. (2009). Structural relationships between social activities and longitudinal trajectories of depression among older adults. *The Gerontologist*, 49(1), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1093/geront/gnp006
- Hops, H., Lewisohn, P. M., & Roberts, R. E. (1990). Psychological correlates of depressive symptomology among high school students. *Journal of Clinical Child Psychology*, 19(3), 211–220. https://doi.org/10.1207/s15374424jccp1903_3
- Horita, R., Nishio, A., & Yamamoto, M. (2021). The effect of remote learning on the mental health of first year university students in Japan. *Psychiatry Research*, 295(113561), 113561. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2020.113561

- Hysenbegasi, A., Hass, S. L., & Rowland, C. R. (2005). The impact of depression on the academic productivity of university students. *The Journal of Mental Health Policy and Economics*, 8(3), 145–151.
- Ibrahim, A., Kelly, S., Adams, C., & Glazebrook, C. (2013). A systematic review of studies of depression prevalence in university students. *Journal Of Psychiatric Research*, 47(3), 391-400. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychires.2012.11.015
- Irish Council for International Students. (2021). *International Student Report 2021*. https://www.internationalstudents.ie/sites/default/files/media/file-uploads/2021-12/ICOS%20International%20Student%20Report%202021_Final.pdf

Jackson, C. (2003). Transitions into Higher Education: Gendered implications for academic self-concept. Oxford Review of Education, 29(3), 331–346. https://doi.org/10.1080/03054980307448

- Jansen, R. S. (2019). Dealing with autonomy: Self-regulated learning in open online education [Doctoral dissertation, Utrecht University]. https://dspace.library.uu.nl/handle/1874/383982
- Jeon, H. J. (2011). Depression and suicide. *Journal of Korean Medical Association*, 54(4), 370. https://doi.org/10.5124/jkma.2011.54.4.370
- Jones, W. H., Carpenter, B. N., & Quintana, D. (1985). Personality and interpersonal predictors of loneliness in two cultures. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 48(6), 1503–1511. https://doi.org/10.1037//0022-3514.48.6.1503
- Lamanauskas, V., & Makarskaitė-Petkevičienė, R. (2021). Distance lectures in university studies: Advantages, disadvantages, improvement. *Contemporary Educational Technology*, 13(3), ep309. https://doi.org/10.30935/cedtech/10887
- Lara, E., Caballero, F. F., Rico-Uribe, L. A., Olaya, B., Haro, J. M., Ayuso-Mateos, J. L., & Miret, M. (2019). Are loneliness and social isolation associated with cognitive

decline? International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry, 34(11), 1613–1622. https://doi.org/10.1002/gps.5174

Lee, Y., & Choi, J. (2011). A review of online course dropout research: implications for practice and future research. *Educational Technology Research and Development: ETR & D*, 59(5), 593–618. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11423-010-9177-y

Leigh-Hunt, N., Bagguley, D., Bash, K., Turner, V., Turnbull, S., Valtorta, N., & Caan, W. (2017). An overview of systematic reviews on the public health consequences of social isolation and loneliness. *Public Health*, *152*, 157–171. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.puhe.2017.07.035

- Levitz, R., & Noel, L. (1989). Connecting students to institutions: Keys to retention and success. In M. Upcraft & J. Gardner, *The freshmen year experience: Helping students survive and succeed in college* (pp. 65-81). Jossey-Bass.
- Lin, C. (2006). Culture shock and social support: An investigation of a Chinese student organization on a US campus. *Journal of Intercultural Communication Research*, 35(2), 117–137. https://doi.org/10.1080/17475750600909279
- Liu, H., Zhang, M., Yang, Q., & Yu, B. (2020). Gender differences in the influence of social isolation and loneliness on depressive symptoms in college students: a longitudinal study. *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology*, 55(2), 251–257. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00127-019-01726-6
- Liu, R. T., Kleiman, E. M., Nestor, B. A., & Cheek, S. M. (2015). The hopelessness theory of depression: A quarter-century in review. *Clinical Psychology: A Publication of the Division of Clinical Psychology of the American Psychological Association*, 22(4), 345–365. https://doi.org/10.1037/h0101732
- Lyubomirsky, S. (2003). Cognitive Therapy And Research, 27(3), 309-330. https://doi.org/10.1023/a:1023918517378
Mori, S. C. (2000). Addressing the mental health concerns of international students. *Journal of Counseling and Development: JCD*, 78(2), 137–144. https://doi.org/10.1002/j.1556-6676.2000.tb02571.x

Nadler, A. (1991). Help-seeking behavior: Psychological costs and instrumental benefits. InM. S. Clark (Ed.), *Prosocial behavior*. Sage Publications, Inc.

National College of Ireland. (2018). *The National College of Ireland: Ethical Guidelines and Procedures for Research involving Human Participants*. Retrieved from: https://mymoodle.ncirl.ie/pluginfile.php/130027/mod_resource/content/1/NCI%20Eth ics%20Revised%20Feb%202018.pdf

- Nicolaisen, M., & Thorsen, K. (2014). Loneliness among men and women--a five-year follow-up study. *Aging & Mental Health*, 18(2), 194–206. https://doi.org/10.1080/13607863.2013.821457
- Oswald, D. L., & Clark, E. M. (2003). Best friends forever?: High school best friendships and the transition to college. *Personal Relationships*, 10(2), 187–196. https://doi.org/10.1111/1475-6811.00045
- Pak, A. W.-P., Dion, K. L., & Dion, K. K. (1991). Social-psychological correlates of experienced discrimination: Test of the double jeopardy hypothesis. *International Journal of Intercultural Relations: IJIR*, 15(2), 243–253. https://doi.org/10.1016/0147-1767(91)90032-c
- Perlman, D., & Peplau, L. (1981). Toward a social psychology of loneliness. In S. Duck & R. Gilmour, *Personal Relationships in Disorder* (pp. 31-56). Academic Press.

Phinney, J. S., Madden, T., & Santos, L. J. (1998). Psychological variables as predictors of perceived ethnic discrimination among minority and immigrant Adolescents1. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*, 28(11), 937–953. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1559-1816.1998.tb01661.x Piccinelli, M., & Wilkinson, G. (2000). Gender differences in depression: Critical review. The British Journal of Psychiatry: The Journal of Mental Science, 177(6), 486–492. https://doi.org/10.1192/bjp.177.6.486

Psychological Society of Ireland. (2010). The Psychological Society of Ireland: Code of Professional Ethics (Revised November 2010). Retrieved from: https://www.ncirl.ie/Portals/0/QA/Handbook/NCIQAH-11.%20Research.pdf?ver=2019-07-30-153800-573.

- Rajapaksa, S., & Dundes, L. (2002). It's a long way home: International student adjustment to living in the United States. *Journal Of College Student Retention: Research, Theory* & *Practice*, 4(1), 15-28. https://doi.org/10.2190/5hcy-u2q9-kvgl-8m3k
- Rhee, E., Uleman, J. S., Lee, H. K., & Roman, R. J. (1995). Spontaneous self-descriptions and ethnic identities in individualistic and collectivistic cultures. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 69(1), 142–152. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.69.1.142
- Richardson, T., Elliott, P., & Roberts, R. (2017). Relationship between loneliness and mental health in students. *Journal of Public Mental Health*, 16(2), 48–54. https://doi.org/10.1108/jpmh-03-2016-0013
- Rush, A., Trivedi, M., Ibrahim, H., Carmody, T., Arnow, B., & Klein, D. et al. (2003). The 16-Item quick inventory of depressive symptomatology (QIDS), clinician rating (QIDS-C), and self-report (QIDS-SR): a psychometric evaluation in patients with chronic major depression. *Biological Psychiatry*, *54*(5), 573-583. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0006-3223(02)01866-8
- Russell, D. (1996). UCLA loneliness scale (Version 3): Reliability, validity, and factor structure. *Journal Of Personality Assessment*, 66(1), 20-40. https://doi.org/10.1207/s15327752jpa6601_2

- Russell, D., Peplau, L., & Cutrona, C. (1980). The revised UCLA loneliness scale: Concurrent and discriminant validity evidence. *Journal Of Personality And Social Psychology*, 39(3), 472-480. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.39.3.472
- Said, D., Kypri, K., & Bowman, J. (2013). Risk factors for mental disorder among university students in Australia: findings from a web-based cross-sectional survey. *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology*, 48(6), 935–944. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00127-012-0574-x
- Sam, D. (2001). Satisfaction with life among international students: An exploratory study. Social Indicators Research, 53(3), 315-337. https://doi.org/10.1023/a:1007108614571
- Sarvestani, M. S., Mohammadi, M., Afshi, J., & Raeisy, L. (2019). Students' Experiences of E-Learning Challenges; a Phenomenological Study. *Interdisciplinary Journal of Virtual Learning in Medical Sciences*, 10(3), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.30476/IJVLMS.2019.45841
- Sawir, E., Marginson, S., Deumert, A., Nyland, C., & Ramia, G. (2008). Loneliness and international students: An Australian study. *Journal of Studies in International Education*, 12(2), 148–180. https://doi.org/10.1177/1028315307299699
- Shen, L., & Chen, J. (2020). Research on Culture Shock of International Chinese Students
 from Nanjing Forest Police College. *Theory And Practice In Language Studies*, 10(8),
 898. https://doi.org/10.17507/tpls.1008.07
- Smith, C. (2016). International student success. *Strategic Enrollment Management Quarterly*, 4(2), 61–73. https://doi.org/:10.1002/sem3.20084
- Smith, R. A., & Khawaja, N. G. (2011). A review of the acculturation experiences of international students. *International Journal of Intercultural Relations: IJIR*, 35(6), 699–713. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijintrel.2011.08.004

- Solberg, V. S., & Viliarreal, P. (1997). Examination of self-efficacy, social support, and stress as predictors of psychological and physical distress among Hispanic college students. *Hispanic Journal of Behavioral Sciences*, *19*(2), 182–201. https://doi.org/10.1177/07399863970192006
- Suen, H. K. (1983). Alienation and attrition of black college students on a predominantly white campus. *Journal of College Student Personnel*, *24*(2), 117–121.
- Thomas, L., Orme, E., & Kerrigan, F. (2020). Student loneliness: The role of social media through life transitions. *Computers & Education*, 146(103754), 103754. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2019.103754
- Thomas, L., Orme, E., & Kerrigan, F. (2020). Student loneliness: The role of social media through life transitions. *Computers & Education*, 146(103754), 103754. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2019.103754
- Trice, A. (2007). Faculty perspectives regarding graduate international students' isolation from host national students. *International Education Journal*, 8(1), 108-117.
- Tsai, W., Wang, K. T., & Wei, M. (2017). Reciprocal relations between social self-efficacy and loneliness among Chinese international students. *Asian American Journal of Psychology*, 8(2), 94–102. https://doi.org/10.1037/aap0000065
- Tümkaya, S., Aybek, B., & Çelik, M. (2008). An investigation of students' life satisfaction and loneliness level in a sample of Turkish students. *Journal of Human Sciences*, 5(1).
- Wallace, S., Schuler, M., Kaulback, M., Hunt, K., & Baker, M. (2021). Nursing student experiences of remote learning during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Nursing Forum*, 56(3), 612-618. https://doi.org/10.1111/nuf.12568
- Wallin, U., & Runeson, B. (2003). Attitudes towards suicide and suicidal patients among medical students. *European Psychiatry: The Journal of the Association of European Psychiatrists*, 18(7), 329–333. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eurpsy.2003.03.006

- Wechsler, H., Davenport, A., Dowdall, G., Moeykens, B., & Castillo, S. (1994). Health and behavioral consequences of binge drinking in college. A national survey of students at 140 campuses. *JAMA: The Journal of the American Medical Association*, 272(21), 1672–1677. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.272.21.1672
- Wechsler, H., Lee, J. E., Kuo, M., & Lee, H. (2000). College binge drinking in the 1990s: a continuing problem. Results of the Harvard School of Public Health 1999 College Alcohol Study. *Journal of American College Health: J of ACH*, 48(5), 199–210. https://doi.org/10.1080/07448480009599305
- Wechsler, Henry, Lee, J. E., Kuo, M., Seibring, M., Nelson, T. F., & Lee, H. (2002). Trends in college binge drinking during a period of increased prevention efforts. Findings from 4 Harvard School of Public Health College Alcohol Study surveys: 1993-2001. *Journal of American College Health: J of ACH*, *50*(5), 203–217. https://doi.org/10.1080/07448480209595713
- Wei, M., Russell, D. W., & Zakalik, R. A. (2005). Adult attachment, social self-efficacy, selfdisclosure, loneliness, and subsequent depression for freshman college students: A longitudinal study. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 52(4), 602–614. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-0167.52.4.602
- Zawadzki, M. J., Graham, J. E., & Gerin, W. (2013). Rumination and anxiety mediate the effect of loneliness on depressed mood and sleep quality in college students. *Health Psychology: Official Journal of the Division of Health Psychology, American Psychological Association*, 32(2), 212–222. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0029007

Appendices

Appendix A - Information Sheet

You are invited to participate in a research study based on loneliness and depressive symptoms among third-level students. My name is Lauren McGuinness. I am a final-year undergraduate student at the National College of Ireland studying psychology. Please read the following information thoroughly before agreeing to take part in the study.

What is the purpose of this study?

The purpose of this study is to investigate experiences of loneliness and depressive symptoms among third-level students. The study aims to further our understanding of relationships between loneliness and depressive symptoms, and to investigate whether these relationships are different for international and host-national students. The study will also examine the differences in loneliness severity between male and female international students.

The term 'host-national students' refer to anyone who has lived in Ireland for over five years or is an Irish citizen.

Has this study been ethically approved?

Yes, the National College of Ireland's Research Ethics Committee has received and reviewed the study. They have given full ethical approval for it to take place.

What are the requirements to take part in this study?

Participants must be over the age of 18 and currently studying in third-level education in Ireland. Participants must also be either an international student or host-national student to take part in the study. If you are a part of any medical or clinical group involving mental health conditions, please do not participate in this study.

What will the study involve?

If you decide to take part, you will be asked to complete this online questionnaire. The questionnaire will ask you to provide some basic demographic information, and to answer a series of questions related to feelings of loneliness and feelings of low mood or depressive symptoms. You will be asked to provide your consent before you proceed to complete the questionnaire. At the end of the questionnaire, contact information of support lines will be provided, which participants can use if they have experienced any distress. Contact email addresses for the researcher and research supervisor will also be provided, which participants can use if they have any queries following the study.

How long will participation in this study take?

Overall, this study will take participant's approximately 10-15 minutes to complete.

Do you have to take part?

No, the study is entirely voluntary and under no obligation are you required to take part. However, it would be appreciated if you would give 10-15 minutes to participate in the study. If you decide to take part in the study, you will be asked to provide consent beforehand. You are free to keep a copy of this information sheet for your own purposes, and if you need a copy provided, please use the contact email addresses provided

Your right to withdraw:

Participants have the right to withdraw from the study at any time. You may do this by exiting out of the Google Forms tab at any time. However, if you complete the survey and submit your responses, you will not be able to withdraw your information as all responses are anonymous; therefore, your answers would not be identifiable to withdraw.

Will all information provided be confidential?

Although all information in this study is anonymous, all data will be kept confidential. No personal information will be taken from the participant during this study. Only the researcher will have access to any data provided.

What will happen to the information you provide?

According to code 11.1.16, Section 11.4 Code of Conduct in the National College of Ireland Quality Assurance Handbook, all information will be kept in a password-protected file using an external hard drive for at least five years. This is to protect the researcher and the College in case of an allegation of falsification of data. Afterwards, all data will be deleted.

What will happen with the results?

The study results will be included and examined in an undergraduate thesis in the National College of Ireland. If you wish to see the results, you may contact the researcher using the email address provided.

Are there any risks of taking part?

There is no intention of causing any harm or discomfort to the participants throughout the study. However, the topics of the study may cause some distress. If you feel uncomfortable or under any form of distress, you may leave the study by exiting out of the tab. Contacts to helplines in the case that the study has caused you any form of discomfort can be seen below.

If the study has caused you any form of distress, please contact your general practitioner or Pieta House. They have a 24/7 freephone 1800 247 247 or text "HELP" to 51444.

Are there any benefits from my participation?

There are no direct benefits provided to the participants for their participation in this study; however, they will be contributing to the research behind loneliness and depressive symptoms among international students. In addition, this will allow researchers to understand the issues international students in Ireland may be facing, leading to a better approach and interventions in the future.

Contact Details

If you have any more queries, you can reach out using the following email addresses: Name: Lauren McGuinness Contact Email: x19301956@student.ncirl.ie Supervisor: Dr Caoimhe Hannigan Supervisor's Email: Caoimhe.Hannigan@ncirl.ie

Appendix B - Consent Form

In agreeing to participate in this research I understand the following:

- This research is being conducted by Lauren McGuinness, an undergraduate student at the National College of Ireland.
- The Departmental Ethics Committee has accepted the method proposal suggested for this
 research project in principle, which implies that the Committee has no reservations
 regarding the procedure itself. However, the student mentioned above must follow ethical
 guidelines in their interactions with participants and data collection and processing.
- I confirm that I have read and understood the Information Sheet for the above research study.
- I understand that I may refuse to participate or withdraw at any stage if I do not feel comfortable proceeding with the study.
- I have been informed about the general purpose of the study and agree voluntarily to participate.
- I can confirm I am over the age of eighteen.
- All data from the study will be treated confidentially. The data from all participants will be compiled, analysed, and submitted in a report to the Psychology Department in the School of Business.
- I can contact the researcher to address any concerns or questions about the study once it is complete.
- I may withdraw from this study at any time and but once my answers have been submitted, I will not be able to withdraw any submitted data.

By clicking the "I consent" button below you are confirming that you have read and understand the above information and that you would like to participate. You are also acknowledging that you are 18 years or older.

I consent \square

Appendix C - Debriefing Sheet

Thank you for taking part in my research! This study related to loneliness and depressive symptoms among college students in Ireland. The study aims to investigate whether higher levels of loneliness are associated with higher levels of depressive symptoms, and whether there are differences in levels of loneliness or depressive symptoms between international versus host-national, and male versus female students.

How was it tested?

All participants in the study will complete this online questionnaire, and this will provide data to determine levels of loneliness and depressive symptoms among the students surveyed. We will use this data to investigate the research questions described above.

What did this research expect to find?

Based on findings from previous research, we expect that students who have higher levels of loneliness may have higher levels of depressive symptoms. Some previous studies have suggested that female international students experience higher levels of loneliness in comparison to males; and that international students may experience greater levels of loneliness than host-national students. We therefore expect that we may also find differences in loneliness between these groups.

Why is this research important?

Loneliness has been shown to be associated with many physical and mental issues. It has also been found that many students experience loneliness, and that international students may be particularly at risk for experiencing loneliness. It is important to address the issues in attempt to raise awareness and create interventions to benefit both host-national and international students

Confidentiality:

All information provided was anonymous. The data collected in this study will remain confidential whilst the results will be used in my final year thesis in the National College of Ireland.

Support Services:

If the study has caused you any distress, please contact your general practitioner or Pieta House. They have a 24/7 freephone 1800 247 247 or text "HELP" to 51444.

You may also want to contact me for any queries or questions about the study: Name: Lauren McGuinness Contact Email: x19301956@student.ncirl.ie Supervisor: Dr Caoimhe Hannigan Supervisor's Email: Caoimhe.Hannigan@ncirl.ie

Thank you for your participation

Appendix D - Revised UCLA Loneliness Scale

Statement	Never	Rarely	Sometimes	Often
1. I feel in tune with the people around me	1	2	3	4
2. I lack companionship	1	2	3	4
3. There is no one I can turn to	1	2	3	4
4. I do not feel alone	1	2	3	4
5. I feel part of a group of friends	1	2	3	4
6. I have a lot in common with the people around me	1	2	3	4
7. I am no longer close to anyone	1	2	3	4
8. My interests and ideas are not shared by those around me	1	2	3	4
9. I am an outgoing person	1	2	3	4
10. There are people I feel close to	1	2	3	4
11. I feel left out	1	2	3	4
12. My social relationships are superficial	1	2	3	4
13. No one really knows me well	1	2	3	4
14. I feel isolated from others	1	2	3	4
15. I can find companionship when I want it	1	2	3	4
16. There are people who really understand me	1	2	3	4
17. I am unhappy being so withdrawn	1	2	3	4
18. People are around me but not with me	1	2	3	4
19. There are people I can talk to	1	2	3	4
20. There are people I can turn to	1	2	3	4

Indicate how often each of the statements below is descriptive of you.

Appendix E - Self-Report Quick Inventory of Depressive Symptomatology (QIDS-SR₁₆)

Please select the one response to each item that best describes you for the past seven days

1. Falling Asleep:

I never take longer than 30 minutes to fall asleep.	0
I take at least 30 minutes to fall asleep, less than half the time (3 days or less out of the last 7	1
days).	
I take at least 30 minutes to fall asleep, more than half the time (4 days or more out of the last	2
7 days).	
I take more than 60 minutes to fall asleep, more than half the time (4 days or more out of the last	3
7 days).	

2. Sleep During the Night:

I do not wake up at night.	0
I have restless nights, sleeping lightly and wake up for a few brief periods each night.	1
I wake up at least one or more times a night, but I go back to sleep easily.	2
I wake up more than once a night and stay awake for 20 minutes or more, more than half the time	3
(4 days or more out of the last 7 days).	

3. Waking Up Too Early:

Most of the time, I wake up no more than 30 minutes before I need to get up.	0
More than half the time, I wake up more than 30 minutes before I need to get up (4 days or more	1
out of the last 7 days).	
I almost always wake up at least one hour or so before I need to, but I go back to sleep eventually.	2
I wake up at least one hour before I need to, and cannot go back to sleep 4 days or more out of the	3
last 7 days.	

4. Sleeping Too Much:

I sleep no longer than 7-8 hours a night, without napping during the day.	0)
I sleep no longer than 10 hours in a 24-hour period including naps.	1	Ĺ
I sleep no longer than 12 hours in a 24-hour period including naps.	2	2
I sleep longer than 12 hours in a 24-hour period including naps.	3	3

5. Feeling Sad:

I do not feel sad	0
I feel sad less than half the time (3 days or less out of the last 7 days).	1
I feel sad more than half the time (4 days or more out of the last 7 days).	2
I almost always feel sad.	3

Please complete <u>either</u> 6 or 7 (not both)

6. Decreased Appetite:

There is no change in my usual appetite.	0
I eat rather less often or lesser amounts of food than usual.	1
I eat much less than usual and only with personal effort.	2
I rarely eat within a 24-hour period, and only with extreme personal effort or when others	3
persuade me to eat.	

7. Increased Appetite:

There is no change from my usual appetite.	0
I feel a need to eat more frequently than usual.	1
I regularly eat more often and/or greater amounts of food than usual.	2
I feel driven to overeat both at mealtime and between meals.	3

Please complete <u>either</u> 8 or 9 (not both)

8. Decreased Weight (Within the Last Two Weeks):

I have not had a change in my weight.	0
I feel as if I have had a slight weight loss.	1
I have lost 2 pounds/1 Kg or more.	2
I have lost 5 pounds/2 Kg or more.	3

9. Increased Weight (Within the Last Two Weeks):

I have not had a change in my weight.	0
I feel as if I've had a slight weight gain.	1
I have gained 2 pounds/1 Kg or more.	2
I have gained 5 pounds/2 Kg or more.	3

10. Concentration/Decision Making:

There is no change in my usual capacity to concentrate or make decisions.	0
I occasionally feel indecisive or find that my attention wanders.	1
Most of the time, I struggle to focus my attention or to make decisions.	2
I cannot concentrate well enough to read or cannot make even minor decisions.	3

11. View of Myself:

I see myself as equally worthwhile and deserving as other people.	0
I am more self-blaming than usual.	1
I largely believe that I cause problems for others.	2
I think almost constantly about major and minor defects in myself.	3

12. Thoughts of Death or Suicide:

I do not think of suicide or death.	0
I feel that life is empty or wonder if it is worth living.	1
I have thought of suicide or death several times over the last seven days for several minutes.	2
I think of suicide or death several times a day in some detail, or I have made specific plans for	3
suicide or have actually tried to take my life.	

13. General Interest:

There is no change from usual in how interested I am in other people or activities.	0
I notice that I am less interested in people or activities.	1
I find I have interest in only one or two of my formerly pursued activities.	2
I have very little interest in formerly pursued activities.	3

14. Energy Level:

There is no change in my usual level of energy.	0
I get tired more easily than usual.	1
I have to make a big effort to start or finish my usual daily activities (for example, shopping,	2
homework, cooking or going to work).	
I really cannot carry out most of my usual daily activities because I just do not have the energy.	3

15. Feeling slowed down:

I think, speak, and move at my usual rate of speed.	0
I find that my thinking is slower or my voice sounds dull or flat.	1
It takes me several seconds to respond to most questions and I am sure my thinking is slower.	2
I am often unable to respond to questions without extreme effort.	3

16. Feeling restless:

I do not feel restless.	0
I am often fidgety, wringing my hands, or need to shift how I am sitting.	1
I have impulses to move about and am quite restless.	2
At times, I am unable to stay seated and need to pace around.	3

Appendix F - Poster

PARTICIPANTS NEEDED Loneliness and Depressive Symptoms Among Third Level Students

Requirements:

- Aged 18+
- A third level interntional student
- A third level host national student

We aim to understand the impact of loneliness on international students whilst studying abroad in comparison to host national students.

Participation will include completing two anonymous questionnaires using the following study link: https://forms.gle/hdF HJ8LkgtNEN4Fr6 Or the QR code provided SCAN ME

Please contact me with any queries relating to the study that you may have

Lauren McGuinness National College of Ireland x19301956@student.ncirl.ie

